IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

Case. No. 95,641 (2d DCA Case No. 97-00572)

JOHN WAYNE SPELL,

Respondent.

____/

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Chief of Criminal Law, Tampa Florida Bar No. 238538 Westwood Center, Suite 700 2002 No. Lois Avenue Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739

ANN PFEIFFER HOWE Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 440965 Westwood Center, Suite 700 Criminal Division 2002 No. Lois Avenue, Ste. 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This case was originally an appeal from a revocation of community control. John Wayne Spell was charged by information on March 24, 1993 in Collier County, Florida with one count of lewd assault, in violation of section 800.04, Florida Statutes (1991). (R24) The information alleged that between June 1 and September 30, 1992, Spell "did unlawfully handle, fondle, or make an assault upon a child under the age of sixteen (16) years, in a lewd, lascivious or indecent manner, by placing his hand or fingers on or upon her vagina..." (R24)

On February 3, 1994, Spell was sentenced to two years in prison, followed by five years probation. (R26) A warrant for violation of probation was issued on April 9, 1996. (R27) Subsequently Spell was found to have violated probation and was placed on community control for one year, followed by three years of probation. (R1) On September 12, 19996 a warrant was issued for violation of community control. (R1)

Prior to sentencing on the violation of community control, Spell filed a motion to correct sentence on December 9, 1996 (R4-5), alleging that the scoresheet prepared for the violation of community control included forty points for victim injury which should not have been scored, pursuant to <u>Karchesky v. State</u>, 591

So. 2d. 930 (Fla. 1992). The motion asked that the forty points be deleted or that an evidentiary hearing be held "on the issue of physical injury if the State is alleging ascertainable physical injury separate from penetration." (R5)

The trial court heard argument on the motion at a hearing held on December 16, 1996. (R63-71) [The argument was combined with argument on an identical motion filed in a similar case pending before the same trial court (R67), the appeal from which was decided in <u>Bogan v. State</u>, 725 So. 2d. 1216 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), which reversed and remanded for further proceedings.] The State argued that under <u>State v. Montague</u>, 682 So. 2d. 1085 (Fla. 1996), a contemporaneous objection to the scoresheet had to have been made when the defendant was originally sentenced or the issue is not preserved for appellate review. (R69) The defense responded that the objection then being voiced was a contemporaneous objection to the new scoresheet prepared for the violation. (R70)

At the hearing, the trial court reserved ruling. (R70) On January 6, 1997, at the plea hearing, the court announced that its ruling would be "the same in this motion as it was in the <u>Bogan</u> case." (R34)

Mr. Spell pleaded no contest to the violation of community control on January 6, 1997. (R34-35) The trial court imposed a

sentence of three and one half years in prison, with credit for time previously served, followed by two years of probation. (R60) The guidelines scoresheet included forty points for victim injury. (R22)

A timely notice of appeal was filed January 27, 1997 (R.8) The Second District Court of Appeal rendered its opinion on January 15, 1999. The appellate court reversed and remanded for re-sentencing with a corrected scoresheet, J. Altenbernd dissenting with opinion.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The correct view is that of <u>Fitzhugh v. State</u>, 698 So. 2d. 571 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997) (an appeal from re-sentencing following a violation of probation is not the proper time to assert an error in the original sentencing) rather than <u>Wright v. State</u>, 707 So. 2d. 385 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) (the question of how many points should be scored for victim injury is a question of law which may be raised at any time).

The <u>Fitzhugh</u> opinion is consonant with the concerns of the Florida Supreme Court in <u>State v. Montaque</u>, 682 So. 2d. 1085 (Fla. 1996). The problems of locating witnesses and the freshness of memory become more acute as the time elapses between the original sentencing and re-sentencing. The <u>Wright</u> opinion virtually ignores these concerns.

The Second District Court of Appeal opinion in <u>Spell</u> should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER A DEFENDANT IS BARRED FROM RAISING A CLAIM OF <u>KARCHESKY</u> ERROR AT RE-SENTENCING ON A VIOLATION OF COMMUNITY CONTROL WHERE THERE IS A NEW SCORESHEET, WHEN HE FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE IMPOSITION OF FORTY VICTIM INJURY POINTS AT THE ORIGINAL SENTENCING.

(As Stated by Petitioner)

Petitioner State of Florida respectfully submits that the view expressed in <u>Fitzhugh v. State</u>, 698 So. 2d. 571 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997), finding that an appeal from re-sentencing following violation of probation is <u>not</u> the proper time to assert an error in the original scoresheet, is the correct view.

Appellant John Wayne Spell raised for the first time at a *third* proceeding, i.e., re-sentencing for violation of community control, a claim of error in his original scoresheet which imposed forty points for victim injury.

The trial court did not err in denying Mr. Spell's motion to correct the sentencing guidelines scoresheet.

Appellant failed to raise the issue at his original sentencing for one count of lewd and lascivious assault on a child under sixteen, for which he received a sentence of two years Florida State Prison and five years probation on February 3, 1994.

Appellant subsequently violated probation and was placed on

community control for a year, followed by three years of probation. Again, he failed to raise the issue at sentencing.

Appellant was subsequently charged with violation of community control and for the first time filed a motion to correct scoresheet shortly before the sentencing hearing, alleging that it was error to impose forty points for victim injury where there was no ascertainable physical injury.¹

Appellee State of Florida asserts that the trial court did not err in denying Appellant's motion to correct scoresheet based on <u>State v. Montaque</u>, 682 So. 2d. 1085 (Fla. 1996) which held that contemporaneous objection is necessary to preserve for appellate review an alleged error under the Florida Supreme Court decision in <u>Karchesky</u> and that the sentencing hearing is the appropriate time to object to alleged sentencing errors based on disputed factual matters.

In Montague, the Florida Supreme Court stated:

1

"We have addressed the contemporaneous objection issue in its varying forms for well over a decade. The enduring policy rationale in our decisions is that there is an appropriate time and forum for

In <u>Karchesky v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d. 930 (Fla. 1992) the Florida Supreme Court held that victim-injury points could not be assessed for penetration in calculating sentencing guidelines scoresheet for conviction of the offense of carnal intercourse with unmarried person under 18 years absent specifically identified physical injury or trauma occurring as the result of intercourse.

making objections to alleged sentencing errors. E.g. <u>State v. Rhoden</u>, 448 So. 2d. 1013, 1016 (Fla. 1984) ('The primary purpose of the contemporaneous objection rule is to ensure that objections are made when the recollections of witnesses are freshest and not years later in a subsequent trial or a post-conviction relief proceeding.') Thus as we stated in <u>Dailey v. State</u>, 'it is incumbent upon defense counsel to raise, at the trial level, any objections to underlying factual matters supporting the factors in the scoresheet.' 488 So. 2d. at 533 (quoting with approval from <u>Dailey v. State</u>, 471 So. 2d. 1349, 1351 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985)). As the Second District noted , "Had such an objection been raised, it would have alerted the trial court to the necessity of receiving additional evidence at the sentencing hearing regarding the extent of victim injury..." Montaque, 656 So. 2d. at 509 (emphasis added) Therefore the resulting evidentiary determination would have `facilitate[d] an intelligent appellate review,' Rhoden, 448 So. 2d. at 1016 of any alleged sentencing errors. As further noted by the district court, defense counsel's lack of objection leaves us with a barren record on the issue of whether the victim actually suffered physical injury. Montaque, 656 So. 2d. at 509." (emphasis supplied)

The Florida Supreme Court also noted that the Court has repeatedly held that absent an illegal sentence or an unauthorized departure from the sentencing guidelines, only serious errors "apparent on the face of the record do not require a contemporaneous objection in order to be preserved for review." (Emphasis added) <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 601 So. 2d. 540, 541 (Fla. 1992) Appellant has not demonstrated that the instant case falls into any of these three categories. This case does not concern a true "error on the face of

the record" but an underlying factual matter for which we have, as in <u>Montague</u>, a "barren record."

The facts in the appellate record indicate that Appellant neither objected at the original hearing in 1993 nor at his revocation of probation hearing in 1994, and raised the issue for the first time before his sentencing hearing on his violation of community control, in December 1996, more than three years later. Laches is sustainable in a criminal case where there has been a lack of due diligence on the part of the defendant in bringing forth the claim and prejudice to the state. See <u>Blatch v. State</u>, 389 So. 2d. 669, 672 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980); <u>Remp v. State</u>, 248 So. 2d. 677, 679 (Fla. 1st DCA 1970) Here Appellant's lack of due diligence in waiting more than three years to raise the issue, coupled with prejudice to the state in the difficulties of locating a victim witness more than three years later for an evidentiary hearing supports the conclusion that Appellant should be barred from relief by the doctrine of laches.

In <u>Wright v. State</u>, 707 So. 2d. 385 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998)² the Second District Court of Appeal held that the "question of how many points should be scored for victim injury is a question of law which

²The opinion in <u>Spell</u> found the case indistinguishable from <u>Wright</u>.

may be raised at any time," quoting <u>Daum v. State</u>, 544 So. 2d. 1035, 1036 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986). However, the court leaves virtually untouched the problems of so much concern to the Florida Supreme Court in <u>Montaque</u> locating a witness and the freshness of witness memory. The longer the period of time between the original sentencing and the time when a defendant raises an issue on a <u>Karchesky</u> error, the more acute the problems become in locating a victim witness. The argument that the objection is contemporaneous to a new scoresheet simply ignores the real concerns of <u>Montaque</u>.

Petitioner State of Florida asserts that <u>Fitzhugh v. State</u>, 698 So. 2d. 571 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997) is more consonant with the concerns of timeliness voiced by the Florida Supreme Court in <u>Montague</u> and is the correct view. The opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal should be reversed in the instant case.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts, arguments and authorities, the Second District Court of Appeal opinion in the instant case should be reversed.