#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner, :

v. : Case No. 95,641

JOHN WAYNE SPELL, :

Respondent. :

\_\_\_\_:

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

PATRICIA A. PATERSON Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0305820

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831

(941) 534-4200

## ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

# TOPICAL

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The appellate decision in this case should be affirmed because it is not in conflict with any other decision. The holding in <a href="Fitzhugh v. State">Fitzhugh v. State</a>, 698 So. 2d 571 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997), which the State urges this Court to adopt, is inapplicable to the facts of this case because, unlike in <a href="Fitzhugh">Fitzhugh</a>, the defendant first asserted the error in this case in the trial court, not the appellate court, thus complying with the contemporaneous objection requirement.

#### **ARGUMENT**

WHETHER A DEFENDANT IS BARRED FROM RAISING A CLAIM OF KARCHESKY ERROR AT RE-SENTENCING ON A VIOLATION OF COMMUNITY CONTROL WHERE THERE IS A NEW SCORESHEET, WHEN HE FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE IMPOSITION OF FORTY VICTIM INJURY POINTS AT THE ORIGINAL SENTENCING?

The State has urged this Court to adopt the holding in Fitzhugh v. State, 698 So. 2d 571 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997), that an appeal from re-sentencing following a violation of probation is not the proper time to assert an error in the original sentencing guidelines scoresheet. That holding, however, is irrelevant to the facts of this case because (1) this case involved an error in a new scoresheet and (2) that error was first asserted by the defense at the re-sentencing proceedings in the trial court, not during the appeal.

Both <u>Fitzhugh</u> and this case involved the issue of whether forty points for victim injury were improperly included on a scoresheet in light of the decision in <u>Karchesky v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 930 (Fla. 1992). The defendant in <u>Fitzhugh</u> objected, on appeal from the revocation of his probation, to the inclusion of the forty points on the scoresheet used at his original sentencing. The court in <u>Fitzhugh</u> held that "an appeal from re-

sentencing following violation of probation is not the proper time to assert an error in the <u>original</u> scoresheet." <u>Fitzhugh</u>, 698 So. 2d at 573 (emphasis added).

In contrast to <u>Fitzhugh</u>, the defendant in this case objected, in the trial court, to the forty points included on a new scoresheet prepared for sentencing in 1997 upon revocation of community control. Despite the defendant's objection, the trial court sentenced the defendant pursuant to a scoresheet which included the disputed forty points. On appeal the Second District Court of Appeal reversed, relying on its prior decision in <u>Wright v. State</u>, 707 So. 2d 385 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), which held that a scoresheet error is reviewable at re-sentencing after a community control violation even if there was no objection at the original sentencing. <u>Spell v. State</u>, 731 So. 2d 9 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999).

Even Judge Altenbernd, who disagreed with the majority's conclusion to reverse for re-sentencing, stated in his dissent, "I agree that [the defendant] can raise this issue for the first time at the 1997 sentencing hearing because the relevant scoresheet is new ...," adding that he doubted that a "meaningful inter-district conflict exists in this record." 731 So. 2d at 11.

The State argues that the appellate decision in this case does not comport with the intent of <a href="State v. Montaque">State v. Montaque</a>, 682 So. 2d 1085 (Fla. 1996), that objections be raised in the trial court where additional evidence can be taken, if necessary, to facilitate an intelligent appellate review of the issue. As already mentioned above, however, the objection in this case <a href="was">was</a> first raised in the trial court, but that court denied the objection. Had the trial court entertained the objection, then the proper evidentiary hearing could have been held to determine whether or not the disputed victim injury points were proper.

Thus, the State's expressed concerns about locating witnesses and the freshness of those witnesses' memories are irrelevant here because there was no need for the State to produce those witnesses after the trial court denied the defendant's objection. In fact, there has been no showing in this case that necessary witnesses could not be located or, in fact, that the necessary evidence is not already in the trial court's record.

According to the State's position, on re-sentencing the prosecution could present a newly prepared scoresheet which perpetuates errors from the original scoresheet, even if the scoresheet error were blatant, and the trial court would be

compelled to impose an improper sentence pursuant to the inaccurate scoresheet even in the face of a defense objection.

Although the State has argued that the equitable doctrine of laches supports its position in this case, equity would seem to require that scoresheet errors be corrected upon re-sentencing with a new scoresheet so that a proper and legal sentence can be imposed, rather than requiring the perpetuation of errors and continued improper sentencing.

In summary, the Second District's decision in this case is not in conflict with the decision in <a href="Fitzhugh">Fitzhugh</a> because the facts of the two cases differ significantly. Furthermore, the defense in this case complied with the contemporaneous objection rule by objecting to the inclusion of victim injury points in the new scoresheet prepared after revocation of community control.

Finally, equity suggests that the State be required to present the trial court with an accurate scoresheet on re-sentencing rather than being allowed to perpetuate past errors.

#### CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully suggests that the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal be affirmed.